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ChaIrLaDY’s statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Ares Asia Limited (the “Company”, 

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual report of the Company for the 

year ended 31 March 2019.

Faced with negative impacts from global economic factors, including ongoing trade disputes between the United 

States (the “US”) and China and slowing down of China’s economic growth, we continue to demonstrate a 

consistent and solid track record in achieving stable sales performance by implementing clear strategies to 

balance short-term results and long-term goals. The Group has achieved steady sales performance and also has 

enhanced gross profit margin in this financial year. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded 

(i) revenue of approximately US$198.3 million, no material fluctuation, as compared with the previous financial 

year; and (ii) gross profit of approximately US$1.3 million, an increase of approximately 221.3%, as compared 

with the previous year. In addition, we improved our internal cost control to decrease the Group’s salaries cost 

by approximately US$0.2 million and office rental expense by approximately US$0.1 million. The Group reduced 

its net loss to record a consolidated net loss attributable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) 

of approximately US$1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2019, a decrease of approximately 40.4%, as 

compared with the previous year.

Looking ahead, the market will remain challenging in the view of the uncertain business environment due to 

the risk of the US-China trade war which may exacerbate geopolitical tensions and lead to negative impacts on 

the global economy. The Group is actively working to mitigate any potential impacts over the long term. We 

will closely monitor the impact of the macro issues and trade disputes on our performance, and will cautiously 

plan and set our strategies to manage these factors with the aim to provide the best possible results to our 

Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our Shareholders, business partners, 

customers, suppliers, bankers, management and employees for their continuous support and valuable 

contribution to the Group.

ruaYrunGruanG Woraphanit

Chairlady

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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manaGement DIsCussIon anD anaLYsIs

BusIness anD fInanCIaL hIGhLIGhts

The Group continued to mainly operate its coal trading business during the year ended 31 March 2019. The 

customers of the Group are primarily State-owned and privately owned Chinese companies (or their offshore 

subsidiaries) whose businesses include trading or sales of commodities, including coal, and import and export 

operations. As a result of the Group supplying trading customers, the ultimate consumer of the supplies is 

commonly unknown to the Group.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019, which was generated from its coal and other trading 

business, amounted to US$198.3 million which was very close as compared with US$198.7 million for the year 

ended 31 March 2018.

The Company’s policy is not to carry coal inventory. Accordingly, the Group utilises its knowledge of the 

specifications and quality of the commodity, its contacts both on the demand and supply sides of the market 

and its assessment of price/price trends to seek to meet its customers’ needs by sourcing the supplies at the 

required quantity, specification and delivery period at the best available price from the Group’s suppliers, which 

include coal mine owners, operators or their agents and offering the same to the Group’s customers at an 

appropriate mark up in price and other settlement terms.

Loss before taxation for the year ended 31 March 2019 was US$1.5 million, representing US$0.7 million of loss 

from the coal and other trading business, and US$0.8 million of corporate overhead expenses. In comparison, 

loss before taxation for the year ended 31 March 2018 was US$2.5 million, representing US$1.5 million of loss 

from the coal and other trading business, and US$1.0 million of corporate overhead expenses.

revIeW of operatIons

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the performance of the coal and other trading business has been 

maintained with revenue of US$198.3 million, only representing a year-on-year slight decrease of 0.20% or 

US$0.4 million. The Group sold coals originated from various countries to Mainland China, with a total volume 

of approximately 2.81 million metric tonnes (“MT”) as compared to approximately 2.82 million MT in previous 

year.

Selling and administrative expenses primarily consisted of employee benefits costs as well as rental and corporate 

expenses which amounted to approximately US$1.9 million for the current year (2018: US$2.2 million).

Finance costs of US$0.9 million incurred during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: US$0.7 million) arose 

from the bills discounted in trade. Increase in finance costs by approximately US$0.2 million was mainly 

attributable to increase in transactions that utilized maximum tenor of 150 days the Group provided to its 

customers.

The Group reduced its loss to record loss before taxation of US$1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 as 

compared to loss before taxation of US$2.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 mainly due to net effect 

of (i) increase in gross profit by approximately US$0.9 million; (ii) decrease in salaries cost by approximately 

US$0.2 million; (iii) increase in finance cost by approximately US$0.2 million; and (iv) decrease in office rental 

expense by approximately US$0.1 million, as compared with the previous year.
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manaGement DIsCussIon anD anaLYsIs

LIQuIDItY anD fInanCIaL resourCes

We continue our conservative positioning in managing the Group’s working capital.

As at 31 March 2019, cash and bank balances for the Group amounted to approximately US$3.8 million as 

compared to US$8.4 million as at 31 March 2018. The decrease in cash was primarily as the result of the 

payment for daily operations and trade activities during the year ended 31 March 2019.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no other borrowings except for the discounted bills with recourse 

amounting to US$3.0 million as compared to US$49.5 million as at 31 March 2018. The decrease was due to 

that trading activities conducted in March 2019 were not yet discounted. The discounting of bills receivable was 

a short term trade facility and the underlying bills receivable had maturity periods of 90 days after the receipt of 

required documents by nominated banks, or less and were covered by corresponding letters of credit.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s debt to equity ratio, being total debt to total equity was approximately 258% 

(31 March 2018: 669%).

The Group implements tight control on its credit and collection policies. As stipulated in the sale and purchase 

agreements for the coal and other trading business, irrevocable letters of credit, up to a tenor of 150 days (2018: 

90 days) after the receipt of required documents by nominated banks, are usually required not later than 14 

days prior to the expected date of vessels’ arrival at loading port. So far, the Group has not experienced any bad 

debts from its coal and other trading business.

The Group generally relied on its internally generated cash flows and the existing trade facilities to finance its 

day to day operations. There is no present plan for material capital expenditures and we believe that the Group 

has adequate liquidity to meet its current and future working capital requirements.

materIaL aCQuIsItIon, DIsposaL anD sIGnIfICant Investment

The Group did not have any material acquisition, disposal and significant investment during the year ended 31 

March 2019.
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manaGement DIsCussIon anD anaLYsIs

rIsK of CurrenCY fLuCtuatIons

The Group’s assets and liabilities as well as the income and expenses derived from the operation are mainly 

denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars (i.e. functional currency of the Company and its 

subsidiaries).

There is no significant exposure to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates, but the Group is closely monitoring 

the financial market and would consider appropriate measures if required. Currently, the Group has no hedging 

arrangement for foreign currencies and has not entered into any financial derivatives arrangement.

CommItments

At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable 

as follows:

the Group

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Within 1 year 210 109

After 1 year but within 5 years 215 —   

425 109
   

The Group is the lessee in respect of its office premise held under operating lease from a fellow subsidiary. The 

lease runs for an initial period of three years with options to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. 

The lease does not include contingent rentals.
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manaGement DIsCussIon anD anaLYsIs

prospeCt

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the China’s economy faced a confluence of risks, the trade war between 

China and the United States, which were severely disrupt economic activities and inflicted significant damage 

on longer-term development prospects. These risks included an escalation of trade disputes and a gradual 

tightening of global financial conditions. Faced the unstable economic environment, the Group had still made 

stable revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 as compared with the previous financial year.

Looking ahead, the market will become more challenging during trade wars and the China’s economic activities 

may slow down. However, the Group has noted that cost advantages of imported coal and an increased demand 

for coal from coastal power plants in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, which may lead to 

recovery on the coal market. The Group will actively work to reduce any potential impacts in the long run, such 

as strengthening our marketing efforts. We will closely monitor the impact of the macro issues and trade dispute 

on our performance, and will minimize the impact of trade wars.

The Group will carefully plan and develop strategies to manage these factors to provide the best possible results 

to Shareholders in the medium to longer term.

empLoYees anD remuneratIon poLICY

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 9 full-time (31 March 2018: 9) employees in Hong Kong. The 

Group’s emolument policy is to pay salaries and wages that are competitive in the industry in a way that will 

be motivational, fair and equitable, and that are dependent on individual and the Group’s performance. Apart 

from salaries, the Group also provides other fringe benefits to employees, which include share option scheme, 

provident fund schemes, discretionary bonuses on performance basis and medical insurance.

The remuneration committee under the Board reviews the Group’s emolument policy and structure of the 

Directors of the Group, having regards to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable 

market standards.
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DIreCtors’ report

The Directors are pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 

Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

prInCIpaL aCtIvItIes

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is principally engaged in the business of 

coal trading, entailing the selling of coals purchased from various countries to the People’s Republic of China. 

The Group commenced coal trading in October 2012. An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating 

segments is set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

resuLts anD approprIatIons

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on 

page 56 of this annual report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 

2019.

BusIness revIeW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during 

the year and the material factors underlying its financial performance and financial position can be found in the 

“Chairlady’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on page 3 and pages 4 to 7 of this 

annual report respectively.

prInCIpaL rIsKs anD unCertaIntIes

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects would be affected by a number 

of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies and 

practices of the Group are shown in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

envIronmentaL poLICIes anD performanCe

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment and communities in which it 

operates. Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to comply with laws and 

regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of 

resources, energy saving and waste reduction.

The Group is also committed to the principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To help conserve the 

environment, it implements green office practices such as re-deployment of office furniture as far as possible, 

encourage use of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided printing and copying, reduce energy 

consumption by switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.
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DIreCtors’ report

envIronmentaL poLICIes anD performanCe (Continued)

The Company’s environmental, social and governance report are set out in the Environmental, Social and 

Governance Report on pages 39 to 50 of this annual report.

CompLIanCe WIth the reLevant LaWs anD reGuLatIons

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations in material respects 

that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the reporting year, there was 

no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

reLatIonshIp WIth suppLIers, Customers anD other staKehoLDers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers, customers and 

other stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the reporting year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers, 

customers and/or other stakeholders except for the events mentioned in note 12 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

permItteD InDemnItY

Pursuant to the memorandum and bye-laws (“Bye-laws”) of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations, 

every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against 

all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the 

execution of their duties in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the 

reporting year. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for 

the Directors and officers of the Group.

CLosure of reGIster of memBers

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), 

the register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 4 September 2019 to Monday, 

9 September 2019 (both days inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be 

registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant 

share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare 

Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 September 2019.

propertY, pLant anD eQuIpment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 10 to the 

consolidated financial statements.
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DIreCtors’ report

share CapItaL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIstrIButaBLe reserves

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (the “Act”), the Company’s contributed surplus is 

distributable to shareholders under certain circumstances as provided in the Act. The reserve of the Company 

available for distribution to shareholders as calculated under the Act as at 31 March 2019 amounted to 

US$6,798,000 (2018: US$8,172,000).

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity on page 58 of this annual report.

pre-emptIve rIGhts

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda in respect 

of the Company’s share capital.

fIve-Year fInanCIaL summarY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 

on page 106 of this annual report.

purChase, saLe or reDemptIon of the CompanY’s LIsteD seCurItIes

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 

securities during the year under review.

DIreCtors

The Directors during the reporting year and up to the date of this annual report were:

executive Directors:

Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG Woraphanit (Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LAI Yi-Chun (Appointed on 1 November 2018)

Mr. WANG Chih-Wei (Resigned on 30 July 2018)
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DIreCtors’ report

DIreCtors (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHANG Jesse
Mr. NGAN Hing Hon
Mr. YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. CHANG Jesse, Mr. NGAN Hing Hon and Mr. 
YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney, will retire as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offered themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws,  Mr. LAI Yi-Chun, will retire as Director and, being 
eligible, offered himself for re-election at the AGM.

BIoGraphICaL DetaILs of DIreCtors

The biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” 
section on pages 19 to 20 of this annual report.

upDate on DIreCtor‘s InformatIon unDer ruLe 13.51B(1) of the LIstInG ruLes

The changes in Directors’ information subsequent to the date of interim report for the period ended 
30 September 2018, as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), are set out below:

name of Director Detail of Change

Mr. LAI Yi-Chun Appointed on 1 November 2018 as an executive Director.

DIreCtors’ emoLuments

The Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

emoLument poLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group 
offers competitive remuneration packages (with reference to market conditions and individual’s and the Group’s 
performance). The remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are reviewed by the remuneration committee of the 
Company, having regard to the Company’s operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance 
and achievement, and approved by the Board.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees.
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DIreCtors’ report

DIreCtors’ servICe ContraCts

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not 

determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 

compensation.

DIreCtors’ Interests In ContraCts

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in note 21 to the 
consolidated financial statements, no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract 
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during 
the reporting year.

DIreCtors’ Interests In CompetInG BusIness

No Director or the management shareholders of the Company and their respective associates (as defined under 
the Listing Rules) had interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, 
with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules, during the reporting year and up to the date 
of this annual report.

InDepenDenCe of InDepenDent non-eXeCutIve DIreCtors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence, and the Company considers that each of them to be independent and has met the guidelines set 
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

CharItaBLe DonatIons

The Group did not make any charitable donation during the year ended 31 March 2019.

manaGement ContraCts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the reporting year.

retIrement BenefIts sCheme

Details relating to the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

shares IssueD

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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DIreCtors’ report

share optIon sCheme

The Company’s existing share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted on 21 September 2012 
(the “Date of Adoption”). The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing 
from the Date of Adoption (that is from 21 September 2012 to 20 September 2022). Pursuant to the Share 
Option Scheme, the Directors may grant options to eligible participants (including any executive directors, 
nonexecutive directors and independent non-executive directors, employees of the Group and any other 
persons who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed to the Group) to subscribe for the 
Company’s shares subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated therein. The purpose of the Share Option 
Scheme is to provide eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, 
which the Directors believe would help the Company to attract and retain high caliber personnel who have 
made contributions to the success of the Company, and would also help the building of common objective of 
the Group and the eligible participants for the betterment of business and profitability of the Group.

The number of share options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% 
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of shareholders’ approval. The Company may seek 
approval by the shareholders at general meeting to refresh the 10% limit (the “Option Scheme Limit”). The 
maximum number of unexercised share options under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option 
schemes shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company at any time. The maximum number 
of options issued to each participant under the Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited 
to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of options in excess of the limit 
is subject to the shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining 
from voting. Any grant of options to a connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) must be approved 
by all independent non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the 
proposed grantee). Where options are proposed to be granted to a connected person who is also a substantial 
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or an independent non-executive Director or any of 
their respective associates, and the proposed grant of options, when aggregated the  options already granted to 
such connected person in the past 12 months period, would entitle that person to receive more than 0.1% of 
the total issued shares of the Company for the time being and the value of which is in excess of HK$5,000,000, 
then the proposed grant must be subject to the approval of the shareholders at the general meeting. Apart from 
the connected person involved, all other connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting in such 
general meeting (except where any connected person intends to vote against the proposed grant).

Based on 340,616,934 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) in issue as at the Date of Adoption, the maximum 

number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all the options granted or to be granted under 

the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 

34,061,693 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Date of Adoption. The Option Scheme Limit has 

not been previously refreshed since the Date of Adoption. The total number of Shares available for issue under 

the Share Option Scheme is 32,561,693 Shares, representing 9.52% of the total number of Shares in issue as at 

the date of this annual report.
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DIreCtors’ report

share optIon sCheme (Continued)

The exercise price must be at least the higher of: (a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the 

daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average 

closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for five 

business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an option. The acceptance of an 

offer of the grant of the option must be made within 15 days from the date of grant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during 

a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee of the option, which period may 

commence on a day after the date upon which the option is granted but shall and in any event be not later 

than ten years from the date of grant of the option. The Directors may at their sole discretion determine the 

minimum period for which the option has to be held or other restrictions before the exercise of the option.

There was no outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 

respectively.

No share option was granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2019.

DIreCtors’ rIGhts to aCQuIre shares or DeBentures

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option Scheme” above and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” below, at no time during the 
reporting year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any 
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective associates (as 
defined in the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) or 
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate.

DIreCtors’ anD ChIef eXeCutIve’s Interests anD short posItIons In the shares, unDerLYInG 

shares anD DeBentures

As at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short 

positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within 

the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were 

taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which are recorded in the register required to be 

kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange pursuant to pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 

“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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suBstantIaL sharehoLDer’s Interests anD short posItIons In shares anD unDerLYInG shares

As at 31 March 2019, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons/corporations (other than 

the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) has interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying 

Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of division 2 and 3 of Part XV of 

the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of substantial shareholder required to be kept by the Company 

under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in shares of the Company

name
Capacity/
nature of Interest

number of
shares held

approximate
percentage of

issued share
capital    

Reignwood International Holdings Company 
Limited (“Reignwood”) (Note)

Beneficial Owner 182,459,527 53.33%

Note:

Reignwood is wholly-owned by Dr. Chanchai RUAYRUNGRUANG.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, no person, including the Directors and chief executive of the 

Company, had interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which 

was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the 

SFO.

reLateD partY transaCtIons

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the reporting year is disclosed in 

note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ContInuInG ConneCteD transaCtIon

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Group had the following continuing connected transaction 

during the reporting year.

Lease of office premises

On 19 September 2018, Ares Repco Limited (“Ares Repco”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company, as lessee, entered into a lease renewal agreement (the “Lease Renewal Agreement”) with Reignwood 

International Investment (Group) Company Limited (“Reignwood International Investment”), a direct wholly-

owned subsidiary of Reignwood, as lessor, in respect of the renewal of the lease of the premises (the “Premises”) 

situated at Level 96, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Hong Kong for a term of 3 years 

commencing from 16 July 2018 and expiring on 15 July 2021 at a monthly rent of HK$135,720, exclusive of 

rates, air-conditioning charges and property management fee, subject to the terms and conditions of the Lease 

Agreement.

Dr. Chanchai RUAYRUNGRUANG owns the entire share capital of Reignwood, which in turn holds 182,459,527 

shares in the capital of the Company, representing approximately 53.33% of the then total issued share capital 

of the Company on 16 July 2018, and is the controlling shareholder of the Company. The lessor is a direct 

wholly-owned subsidiary of Reignwood and, therefore, an associate of Dr. Chanchai RUAYRUNGRUANG and 

a connected person of the Company. The transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreement constitute 

continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap of the aggregate amount payable by Ares Repco to Reignwood International Investment set by 

the Board for the renewal of the lease of the Premises for the period from 16 July 2018 to 31 March 2019 is 

HK$1,380,000. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the total amount incurred by Ares Repco to Reignwood 

International Investment pursuant to the Lease Renewal Agreement was HK$2,303,442. Further details of this 

continuing connected transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 19 September 2018.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid continuing connected transaction and 

confirmed that the transaction has been entered into:

(1)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3)  according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of 

the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the aforesaid continuing connected transaction in accordance 

with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 

Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on 

Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants.
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ContInuInG ConneCteD transaCtIon (Continued)

Lease of office premises (Continued)

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the 

aforesaid continuing connected transaction in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules as follows, a 

copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange:

(1) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected 

transaction has not been approved by the Board;

(2) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected 

transaction was not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements 

governing such transaction; and

(3) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected 

transaction has exceeded the respective maximum aggregate annual value as set by the Company.

maJor Customers anD suppLIers

During the reporting year, the percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s major suppliers 

and customers are as follows:

purchases

— the largest supplier 21%

— five largest suppliers combined 71%

sales

— the largest customer 52%

— five largest customers combined 97%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more 

than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

suffICIenCY of puBLIC fLoat

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, 

throughout the year ended 31 March 2019 until the date of this annual report, there is a sufficiency of public 

float of the Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.
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Corporate GovernanCe

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 

38 of this annual report.

auDIt CommIttee

The audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) under the Board comprises all the three independent non-

executive Directors, namely Mr. NGAN Hing Hon (Committee Chairman), Mr. YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney and Mr. 

CHANG Jesse.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the external auditor the accounting principles 

and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including the 

review of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

auDItor

KPMG, the auditors of the Company, will retire at the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for 

re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as independent auditor of the Company will be 

proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

ruaYrunGruanG Woraphanit

Chairlady

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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eXeCutIve DIreCtors

ms. ruaYrunGruanG Woraphanit, aged 29, obtained her Bachelor’s Degree in Advertisement from Peking 

University in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) in 2013. Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG is the daughter of 

Dr. Chanchai Ruayrungruang, the beneficial owner of Reignwood International Holdings Company Limited 

(“Reignwood”) which is the controlling shareholder of the Company, interested in approximately 53.33% of the 

total issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this annual report. Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG, who is 

currently a director of several subsidiaries of Reignwood and companies owned by her family, was responsible 

for handling refinancing issues, maintaining relationships with banking partners, delivery of Reignwood’s 

strategic vision outside of the PRC, and managing European investment portfolio during the past five years. 

She joined the Company as an executive Director, the Chairlady, the Chief Executive Officer, an authorised 

representative of the Company (the “Authorised Representative”) under the Listing Rules and also the authorized 

representative of the Company for accepting service of process and notices on behalf of the Company in Hong 

Kong (the “Process Agent”) as required under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong) on 5 January 2018. She is also currently a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

mr. LaI Yi-Chun (also known as “robert Lai”), aged 52, graduated from Feng Chia University in the Republic 

of China in 1990 with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Land Management. Mr. LAI obtained his Master’s 

Degree in Business Administration from the USC Marshall School of Business in the USA in 1993. Mr. LAI 

has over 25 years of experience in financial analysis, fund management and project management especially 

in real estate. Mr. LAI is currently a deputy director and director of the international investment department 

of Reignwood Investment (China) Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Reignwood, responsible for pre-project 

management, financial analysis and modeling and supervising investment projects and implementing investment 

strategies since October 2010. He joined the Company as an executive Director on 1 November 2018. Mr. LAI is 

also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
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InDepenDent non-eXeCutIve DIreCtors

mr. ChanG Jesse, aged 64, is currently the managing partner of TransAsia Lawyers, a law firm licensed in the 

PRC and is also an arbitrator of Shanghai International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission. Mr. CHANG 

graduated with a bachelor of laws degree and a bachelor of economics degree from The Australian National 

University and a master of laws degree from the Columbia University in New York. He has extensive experience 

in advising clients to implement market entry structures in highly regulated sectors in the PRC, such as aviation, 

media and IT. He has also been involved in corporate restructurings, mergers and acquisitions of numerous 

multinational companies particularly in industries related to media, IT as well as minerals and resources. He 

joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director on 9 June 2014.

mr. nGan hing hon, aged 62, is currently the audit partner of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. Mr. NGAN 

graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor of business administration. He is an 

associate and practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow 

member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. NGAN had worked in two international 

audit firms for approximately 4 years, and was then employed by several listed and private companies in Hong 

Kong as financial controller. Mr. NGAN has extensive experience in auditing, accounting and corporate finance. 

He joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director on 16 February 2011.

mr. YeunG Kin Bond, sydney, aged 45, is currently an executive director, group chief executive director 

and a member of the nominating committee of GSS Energy Limited (listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange) 

since 31 October 2014. Mr. YEUNG is also a director of Giken Sakata (S) Limited, Giken Precision Engineering 

Pte Ltd, Changzhou Giken Precision Co Ltd, GSS Energy Investment Holdings Limited, Nusantara Resources 

Pte Ltd, GSS Energy Sumatra Limited, GSS Energy Trembul Limited, GSS Energy Oilfield Management Limited, 

and a commissioner of PT Giken Precision Indonesia and PT Sarana GSS Trembul, all are subsidiaries of GSS 

Energy Limited. Mr. YEUNG is the founder director and shareholder of Roots Capital Asia Limited, a substantial 

shareholder of GSS Energy Limited. Mr. YEUNG has many years of experience in the financial industry, starting 

his career in the institutional equity division at Morgan Stanley New York and as the managing director of 

international trading at Van der Moolen, (listed on the New York Stock Exchange) a US securities specialist firm. 

Mr YEUNG is an active member of the Rotary Club in Singapore. He was an independent non-executive director 

of China Gaoxian Fibre Fabric Holdings Limited (listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange) from 18 September 

2013 to 6 January 2016. He joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director on 16 February 

2011.
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The Company is dedicated to sound governance practices and strives to meet the standard at all levels of the 

organisation. The Board recognises the vital importance of trust in relationship with our shareholders and 

investors. Solid corporate governance practices ensure the alignment of corporate behaviours with shareholder 

interests by promoting the principles of transparency, accountability and independence in the Company’s 

business activities and decision making processes.

The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with the applicable code provisions (the “Code 

Provision(s)”) of the Corporate Governance Code  (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report as set out 

in Appendix 14 to the Listing  Rules  throughout the year ended 31 March 2019 save for the deviation from the 

Code Provision A.2.1, details of which will be explained below.

For Code Provision A.2.1, it stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be 

separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG Woraphanit (“Ms. 

RUAYRUNGRUANG”) has been appointed as the chairlady of the Company (the “Chairlady”) and the chief 

executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”). The Board considers that this structure will 

not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management of the Company. The 

balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of the Board, which comprises experienced and 

high calibre individuals and meets regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of the Company. The 

Board believes that this structure is conducive to strong and consistent leadership, enabling the Group to make 

and implement decisions promptly and efficiently. The Board has full confidence in Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG 

and believes that her holding of the positions of the Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer is beneficial to 

the business development of the Group. The Board will nevertheless regularly review the effectiveness of this 

structure to ensure that such structure is appropriate in view of the Group’s prevailing circumstances.

the BoarD

Board composition and role

The Board is responsible for overseeing our management and business affairs as well as approving strategic 

plans and major policy decisions for the Company with the objectives of enhancing shareholder value.
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the BoarD (Continued)

Board composition and role (Continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of five members, including two executive Directors 
and three independent non-executive Directors. There is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship amongst the Directors except Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG is the daughter of Dr. Chanchai 
Ruayrungruang, the beneficial owner of Reignwood which is the controlling shareholder of the Company. There 
were changes in members of the Board during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this annual 
report as below:

— Mr. WANG Chih-Wei has resigned on 30 July 2018 as an executive Director.

— Mr. LAI Yi-Chun has been appointed on 1 November 2018 as an executive Director.

The Board as a whole has achieved an appropriate balance of skills and experience to meet the requirements 
of the Group’s business. The biographical details of the Directors and the relationships amongst them, if any, 
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 19 to 20 of this annual 
report.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors who perform their duties under 
the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer, while reserving certain key matters for the approval by the Board. 
The types of decisions to be taken by the Board include but not limited to annual and interim period financial 
reporting and control, equity fund raising, declaration of interim dividend and making recommendation of 
final dividend or other distributions, notifiable transactions under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules 
and making recommendation for capital reorganization or scheme arrangement of the Company. During 
the year ended 31 March 2019, Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG, the Chairlady and the Chief Executive Officer, was 
delegated with the authority and responsibility to maintain the Group’s business and day-to-day operations, 
and to implement the Group’s strategy with respect to the achievement of its business objectives. Ms. 
RUAYRUNGRUANG was also delegated with the authority and responsibility to take up the overall management 
of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating 
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors. All the independent non-executive 
Directors possess appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management 
expertise. In addition, the Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an 
annual confirmation of independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers each 
of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and has met the independence guidelines set out 
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have been keeping abreast of their responsibilities as a director of a listed company and of the 
conduct, business activities and development of the Group. Management provides appropriate and sufficient 
information to the Directors and the Board committees’ members in a timely manner to keep them apprised of 
the latest development of the Group. The Board and each of the Directors also have separate and independent 
access to the management whenever necessary.



Annual Report 2018-2019 23

Corporate GovernanCe report

the BoarD (Continued)

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities arising from 

the businesses of the Group. The insurance coverage is reviewed by the management on an annual basis.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year to review and discuss the overall strategy as well as the 

operation and financial performance of the Group. A total of four Board meetings were held during the year 

ended 31 March 2019. Additional meetings with reasonable notice will be held as and when the Board considers 

appropriate. Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to facilitate maximum attendance of 

the Directors. Notice of at least 14 days is given to all the Directors for regular Board meetings, and all the 

Directors are given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is responsible for taking and keeping 

minutes of all the Board meetings. All Directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are 

provided with adequate information in a timely manner, enabling the Board to make an informed decision on 

matters placed before the Board meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to the Directors for comment 

within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction that involves a conflict of interests of a substantial 

shareholder of the Company or a Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened 

Board meeting. The Company’s Bye-laws require the Directors who themselves or whose associates have material 

interest to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving such 

transaction.
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the BoarD (Continued)

Directors’ attendance at meetings

The attendance records of the Directors at the Company’s Board meetings and annual general meeting held 
during the year ended 31 March 2019 were as follows:

name of Directors

number of 

Board meetings 

attended/held

annual general 

meeting on

21 september 

2018

 attended/held   

Executive Directors

Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG Woraphanit 4/4 1/1

Mr. WANG Chih-Wei (resigned on 30 July 2018) 2/2 N/A

Mr. LAI Yi-Chun (appointed on 1 November 2018) 2/2 N/A

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. NGAN Hing Hon 4/4 1/1

Mr. YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney 4/4 1/1

Mr. CHANG Jesse 4/4 1/1

Company secretary

Ms. LEUNG Pui Ki (“Ms. LEUNG”), being a professional corporate service provider, was appointed as the 
Company Secretary on 19 February 2016. Ms. RUAYRUNGRUANG Woraphanit, the Chairlady and Chief Executive 
Officer, is the person whom Ms. LEUNG can contact for the purpose of Code Provision F.1.1 of the CG Code. 
During the year ended 31 March 2019, Ms. LEUNG has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking 
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. Ms. LEUNG is responsible for advising the Board on 
company secretarial and corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board complies with the applicable 
policies and procedures, and the applicable rules and regulations.

Directors’ securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct governing deals by all Directors in 
the securities transactions of the Company. All the members of the Board have confirmed that, following specific 
enquiries made by the Company, they have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code 
throughout the year ended 31 March 2019.
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the BoarD (Continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has 
a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under 
relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all the Directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors acknowledge the need to continue 
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the Company. During the year 
ended 31 March 2019, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development by attending 
external seminars/programmes and/or reading materials relating to updates on corporate governance and 
regulations.

appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once 
every three years. Any new Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next following 
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to 
re-election. All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of two years and are subject to 
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the 
Bye-laws of the Company.

BoarD CommIttees

The Company has established the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”), the 
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Audit Committee to oversee 
particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each of these committees has adopted specific terms of reference 
covering its duties, authorities and functions which will be reviewed by the Board from time to time. The 
terms of reference of these committees have been posted on the Company’s website at www.aresasialtd.com 
and irasia.com at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/aresasia. All the Board committees adopt as far as practicable, the 
procedures and arrangement of the Board meetings in relation to the conduct of meetings, notice of meetings 
and recording of minutes. Further details of each of these committees are set out below:
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BoarD CommIttees (Continued)

nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is composed of three independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination 

Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and making 

recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning 

for the Directors. Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee (or the Board before the 

Nomination Committee was established) will carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills, 

experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates, 

including the independence status in the case of an independent non-executive Director, the Company’s needs 

and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. During the reporting year, Mr. LAI Yi-Chun was 

appointed as a new executive Director. Mr. LAI was appointed by going through the selection process stated as 

above.

During the reporting year, one meeting of Nomination Committee was held for, inter alia, considering the 

retirement, re-election of the Directors and appointment of new Director. The Nomination Committee has also 

reviewed the board diversity policy of the Company to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group 

has achieved the effectiveness of the board diversity policy during the year ended 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the attendance record of the members at the meeting of the Nomination 

Committee was as follows:

name of committee members number of meetings attended/held  

Mr. YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney (Committee Chairman) 1/1

Mr. NGAN Hing Hon 1/1

Mr. CHANG Jesse 1/1

remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is composed of three independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration 

Committee is responsible for reviewing and determining the remuneration, compensation and benefits of 

Directors and senior management. During the reporting year, one meeting of Remuneration Committee was held 

for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy and structure, determining the annual remuneration packages 

of the Directors and the senior management and considering the remuneration packages of the newly appointed 

Director. No Director was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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BoarD CommIttees (Continued)

remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the attendance record of the members at the meeting of the 

Remuneration Committee was as follows:

name of committee members number of meetings attended/held  

Mr. CHANG Jesse (Committee Chairman) 1/1

Mr. YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney 1/1

Mr. NGAN Hing Hon 1/1

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the policy 

and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management and reviewing and approving any 

remuneration offered by the Group with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved  by the Board from 

time to time. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation model where it performs an advisory role 

to the Board, with the Board retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages of individual 

executive Directors and senior management.

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 7 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5, details of the annual remuneration of the members of the senior management 

by band for the year ended 31 March 2019 were as follows:

number of employee(s)  

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 3
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BoarD CommIttees (Continued)

audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of three independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is mainly 

responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of 

the external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and 

considering any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; and reviewing the interim and annual 

financial statements of the Group as well as supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness of the 

risk management and internal control systems of the Group. During the reporting year, two meetings of Audit 

Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s 2017/18 annual results and 2018/19 interim results, 

the financial reporting and compliance procedures, making recommendation on re-appointment of auditor for 

the approval of the shareholders in the annual general meeting, reviewing the fees charged by the auditor and 

reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the attendance record of the members at the meetings of the Audit 

Committee was as follows:

name of committee members number of meetings attended/held  

Mr. NGAN Hing Hon (Committee Chairman) 2/2

Mr. YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney 2/2

Mr. CHANG Jesse 2/2

Corporate GovernanCe funCtIons

The Board has delegated the corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee is 

responsible for performing the corporate governance functions set out in Code Provision D.3.1, which include 

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance (including those on 

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements), monitoring the Company’s compliance with the CG Code 

and reviewing the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.



Annual Report 2018-2019 29

Corporate GovernanCe report

Corporate GovernanCe funCtIons (Continued)

Director’s nomination policy

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the 

procedure and criteria for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors. The selection criteria that 

the Nomination Committee has to consider in evaluating and selecting a candidate for directorship include the 

following:

(a) Contribution to the diversity of the Board in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 

years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge 

and length of service;

(b) Reputation for integrity;

(c) his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company;

(d) Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

(e) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business or as suggested by the Board; and

(f) If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-executive director, his or her 

independence shall be assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 

3.13 of the Listing Rules. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications 

and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he or she has the appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise for filling the office of an 

independent non-executive director with such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of 

the Listing Rules.
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Director’s nomination policy (Continued)

The procedure for the appointment and re-appointment of a Director is summarised as follows:

(a) Nomination by the Nomination Committee

(i) The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and composition (including the balance mix 

of skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board periodically and makes recommendation on any 

proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) When it is necessary to fill a causal vacancy or appoint an additional director, the Nomination 

Committee identifies or selects candidates as recommended to the Committee, with or without 

assistance from external agencies or the Company, pursuant to the criteria set out in the 

Nomination Policy;

(iii) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them 

by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate 

(where applicable);

(iv) The Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the Board including the terms and 

conditions of the appointment; and

(v) The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based upon the recommendation of the 

Nomination Committee.

(b) Re-election of Director at Annual General Meeting

(i) In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, every director shall be subject to 

retirement by rotation at least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at each 

annual general meeting;

(ii) The Nomination Committee shall review the overall performance and contribution of the retiring 

director to the Company. The Nomination Committee shall also review the expertise and 

professional qualifications of the retiring director, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the 

annual general meeting, to determine whether such director continues to meet the criteria as set 

out in the Nomination Policy;

(iii) Based on the review made by Nomination Committee, the Board shall make recommendations 

to shareholders on candidates standing for re-election or re-appointment at the annual general 

meeting of the Company, and provide the available biographical information of the retiring 

directors in accordance with the Listing Rules to enable shareholders to make the informed decision 

on the re-election of such candidates at annual general meeting of the Company.
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Director’s nomination policy (Continued)

(c) Nomination by shareholders

The shareholders of the Company may propose a person for election as a director in accordance with 

the bye-laws of the Company and applicable law, details of which are set out in the “Procedures 

for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director” on the Company’s website at www.

aresasialtd.com and irasia.com at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/aresasia and paragraph “Shareholders’ Right” 

in the Corporate Governance Report on page 36.

BoarD DIversItY poLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 16 August 

2013 which sets out the approach to the diversity on the Board. 

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration 

of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, 

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such 

objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving 

those objectives.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective 

criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, 

age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision 

will be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board’s composition under major diversified perspectives was 

summarised as follows:

0 1 2 3 4 5

Board Diversity

Number of Directors

Designation

Gender

Age Group

Professional Industry Finance Resources Finance Law

25 - 35 36 - 55 56 - 65

Female Male

Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Director
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BoarD DIversItY poLICY (Continued)

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the following measurable objectives were 

adopted:

1. The Company shall comply with the requirements on board composition under the Listing Rules from time 

to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors should be not less than three and one-third of the 

Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate professional qualifications 

or accounting or related financial management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional or have intensive experience of the industry on which the 

business of the Group is.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the Board Diversity Policy for the reporting year.

aCCountaBILItY anD auDIt

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing all information and representations contained in 
the annual report for the year under review. The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and 
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements and other financial 
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The Directors are responsible 
for overseeing the preparation of financial statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and those relevant statutory 
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with. The management has provided such 
explanation and information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment 
of the financial information and position of the Company put to the Board for approval.

Monthly business and financial reports are prepared by the Group’s finance department with a view to providing 
the Board and the management with timely and reliable financial/operational data and information to ensure 
that they fully understand the financial position and operating conditions of the Group all the time.

The annual and interim results of the Group are announced in a timely manner within the limits of three months 
and two months respectively after the end of the relevant year or period.

Similar to last year, in preparing the accounts for the six months ended 30 September 2018 and for the year 
ended 31 March 2019, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, 
made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and ensured the financial statements are 
prepared on a going concern basis. The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting 
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 
51 to 55 of this annual report.
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auDItor’s remuneratIon

The fee paid and payable to KPMG, the independent auditor of the Company, in respect of audit services 
provided to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to approximately US$94,000 (2018: 
US$94,000). No non-audit services were provided for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

CommunICatIons WIth sharehoLDers anD Investors

The Company endeavors to maintain a high level of transparency in communicating with shareholders and 

investors. The Company’s policy of shareholder’s communication is aiming at providing the shareholders and 

potential investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable information of the Company.

The Board and the Company maintain an on-going dialogue with the Company’s shareholders and the 

investment community mainly through the Company’s financial reports, annual general meetings and other 

general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making available all the disclosures submitted to the 

Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other corporate publications on the Company’s website.

At the annual general meeting held on 21 September 2018, the whole Board have attended the said annual 

general meeting to answer questions of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication with the existing 

shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. 

Enquiries to the Board or the Company Secretary may be sent by post to the Company’s head office and 

principal place of business in Hong Kong at Level 96, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West, 

Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Dividend policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became effective on 

1 January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate procedure on declaring and 

recommending the dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors to strike a balance between the 

shareholders’ interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend policy.
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CommunICatIons WIth sharehoLDers anD Investors (Continued)

Dividend policy (Continued)

The declaration and recommendation of dividends is subject to the decision of the Board after considering the 

Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things:

•	 the	Group’s	current	and	future	operations;

•	 the	Group’s	earnings;

•	 the	Group’s	financial	condition;

•	 the	Group’s	cash	requirements,	expenditure	and	availability;

•	 the	Group’s	capital	expenditure;

•	 the	Group’s	 investment	requirements;

•	 the	Group’s	expected	working	capital	requirements	and	future	expansion	plans;

•	 the	Group’s	business	conditions	and	strategies;

•	 the	 interests	of	shareholders;

•	 the	general	business	conditions	and	strategies;

•	 the	 general	 economic	 conditions,	 business	 cycle	 of	 the	 Group’s	 business	 and	 other	 internal	 or	 external	

factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company;

•	 any	restrictions	on	payment	of	dividends	that	may	be	 imposed	by	the	Group’s	 lenders;	and

•	 any	other	factors	that	the	Board	may	consider	to	be	relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a dividend and the form to pay, subject to any restrictions 

under the Bermuda Companies Act and the bye-laws of the Company. Any final dividends declared by the 

Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company at an annual general 

meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to the interim and/or 

final dividends.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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ConstItutIonaL DoCuments

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there had been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

sharehoLDers’ rIGhts

To safeguard the Company’s shareholders’ rights and interests, separate resolutions are proposed at general 

meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by way of poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and 

poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on the same day of the poll.

procedures for shareholders to convening a special general meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit 

of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at 

general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a written requisition at the head office of the 

Company requiring a special general meeting (“SGM”) to be called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must 

state the purposes of the SGM, and (ii) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered 

office of the Company for attention of the Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in like 

form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such requisitions will be verified with the Company’s share 

registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask 

the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition 

has been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM 

will not be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a 

SGM, the requisitionists or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them 

may convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration of three months from the said 

date of deposit of the requisition. A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, 

as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by the Board.

procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of shareholders 

representing not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at 

general meetings of the Company, or not less than 100 shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) 

give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution which 

may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders entitled 

to have notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect 

to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.
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sharehoLDers’ rIGhts (Continued)

procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings (Continued)

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited at the head office of the Company with a sum 

reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting 

in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in case of 

any other requisition.

procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director

The Company’s procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are available on the 

Company’s website at www.aresasialtd.com and irasia.com at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/aresasia.

procedures for Directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board in writing though the secretarial department of 

the Company with the contact details set out below:

Address :  Level 96, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail :  ir@aresasialtd.com

InternaL ControL anD rIsK manaGement

The Board is responsible for maintaining adequate system of internal controls and risk management within the 

Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. The systems of internal controls and risk management are designed 

to facilitate effective and efficient operations, to safeguard assets and to ensure the quality of internal and 

external reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. They are also designed to provide 

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material misstatement or loss can be avoided, and to manage and 

minimize risks of failure in operation systems. The Company is committed to implement a stricter and more 

regulated internal control and risk management procedures in the new financial year. In the future, the Group 

will conduct regular review of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems and its effectiveness to 

ensure the interest of shareholders is safeguarded.

The Board considers the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are effective.
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oBJeCtIves of rIsK manaGement anD InternaL ControL

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of the Group include:

•	 to	 strengthen	 the	 Company’s	 risk	 management	 and	 internal	 control	 in	 compliance	 with	 the	 Listing	 Rules	

requirements;

•	 to	establish	and	constantly	 improve	the	risk	management	and	 internal	control	systems;	and

•	 to	keep	baseline	risks	within	the	acceptable	range.

three-tIer rIsK manaGement approaCh

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify, assess, mitigate and handle risks. 

At the first line of defence, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks 

associated with each business or deal. The finance department, as the second line of defence, defines rule sets 

and models, oversees and reports risk management matters to the Board. It ensures that risks are within the 

acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the Board together 

with audit committee of the Company, with the professional advice and opinions from the external professional 

Company by whom internal audit work of the Group was conducted on annual basis, ensures that the first and 

second lines of defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring. Deficiencies in the design 

and implementation of internal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for improvement. 

Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on a 

timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.

prInCIpLes of InternaL ControL

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems involve five elements as internal environment, risk 

assessment, control activities, information and communication and internal supervision. The aim of internal 

control is to reasonably guarantee the compliance of its operation and management with regulations and laws, 

assets security, and authenticity and integrity of financial report and related information, improve the efficiency 

and effectiveness of operating activities and promote the realization of development strategy of the Group.
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proCeDures anD InternaL ControLs for the hanDLInG anD DIssemInatIon of InsIDe 

InformatIon

The Group complies with requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information 

to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as 

provided in the SFO.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

•	 the	 Group	 conducts	 its	 affairs	 with	 close	 regard	 to	 the	 disclosure	 requirement	 under	 the	 Listing	 Rules	 as	

well as the requirements of SFO;

•	 the	 Group	 has	 implemented	 and	 disclosed	 its	 policy	 on	 fair	 disclosure	 by	 pursuing	 broad,	 non-

exclusive distribution of information to the public through channels such as financial reporting, public 

announcements and its website;

•	 the	Group	has	strictly	prohibited	unauthorised	use	of	confidential	or	 inside	 information;	and

•	 the	 Group	 has	 established	 and	 implemented	 procedures	 for	 responding	 to	 external	 enquiries	 about	 the	

Group’s affairs.



Annual Report 2018-2019 39

envIronmentaL, soCIaL anD GovernanCe report

aBout the report

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG”). This report aims 

at enhancing stakeholders’ recognition of the Group’s performance in terms of environment and society and 

understanding of the Group’s strategy of sustainable development.

ESG is wide-ranging with a great impact not only on a company’s long-term business development but also on 

the general society. A good ESG performance is indispensable for a company’s long-term success and sustainable 

development. The Directors of the Group had examined the Group’s corporate governance practices and hereby 

confirmed that the Group had complied with all the provisions set forth in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules 

throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

The Group’s sustainable development governance focuses on compliance with the applicable environmental 

and social laws/regulations in the regions where it operates. The Group’s policies of sustainable development 

governance are formulated by its relevant departments according to actual needs and applicable laws and their 

implementation is subject to the supervision and guidance from the Group’s management.

The Group is grateful for the support from stakeholders including shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers, 

environment and community. Looking forward, the Group will continue to review and strengthen its ESG 

performance conscientiously for sustainable business development.

envIronmentaL poLICY anD resourCes manaGement measures

The Group is committed to uphold high environmental standards to fulfil relevant requirements under applicable 

laws or regulations during the operation of the business, including but not limited to by reducing energy 

consumption and pollutant discharge, responsibly using natural resources, and improving waste management. 

The Group’s operations do not create any air pollutant or greenhouse gas emissions directly or generate any 

hazardous or non-hazardous waste and their main source of energy consumption is electricity. The Group has 

striven to reduce the direct and indirect impact of its operations on the environment by reducing unnecessary 

energy consumption in its offices and adopting environmentally friendly policies. For the year ended 31 March 

2019, the Group strictly complied with all the applicable environmental laws and regulations and was not 

subject to any environmental regulatory sanction.
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envIronmentaL poLICY anD resourCes manaGement measures (Continued)

Communication with stakeholders

The Group values the opinions of stakeholders and is committed to responding to their concerns and improving 

the Group’s performance in sustainable development by optimizing communication strategies and taking 

concrete actions. The Group has launched various measures in continuous efforts to improve communication 

with stakeholders. Below are the communication channels between the Group and stakeholders and their 

concerned topics.

stakeholders Concerned topics Communication Channels frequency    

Investors and shareholders Corporate governance, financial 

performance

Shareholders’ meeting, financial 

reports and ESG report

Annually

Suppliers and customers Product quality and customer 

service

Company website, E-mails, 

feedback from employees

Irregular

Employees Compensation, health 

and safety, training and 

development

Regular internal meetings, 

internal complaint mechanism, 

training

Irregular

Government Tax compliance, occupational 

safety

Proactive liaison with relevant 

government departments

Irregular

Community Involvement in cultural and 

social development

Proactive liaison with the 

relevant bodies

Irregular

promotion of environmental awareness

It is Group’s policy to reduce generation of waste and use electricity economically. To raise employees’ 

environmental awareness, the Group has pasted environmental stickers and posters on the walls of its offices. 

The Group also encourages waste recycling and management. Measures include, for example, promoting 

paperless office and document digitalization. Electrical appliances are turned off when not in use to save energy 

and electricity.

It is Group’s policy to urge energy and water resources conservation and to reduce waste generation. The Group 

has always advanced the implementation of various environmental policies and utilized a series of recovery 

measures to minimize wastes, including various sorted collections and waste management before delivery of 

waste to the property management company of buildings for uniform recovery and treatment.
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envIronmentaL poLICY anD resourCes manaGement measures (Continued)

resources Consumption

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the total electricity consumption of the Group was approximately 79,300 

kWh, and the total water consumption was approximately 300m3.

Category of resources unit value   

Electricity kWh 79,300

Water m3 300

Greenhouse Gas emissions

The Group’s carbon emissions come from emissions indirectly related to electricity consumption. In the year, the 

total carbon emissions of the Group was approximately 50 tonnes.

As the Group does not have vehicles, there is no emissions of SOx and NOx .

empLoYee manaGement

employment policy and Labour standards

The Group strictly complies with all applicable labour laws/regulations and provides equal opportunity for 

applicants and employees regardless of their age, race, religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation, marital 

status, social stratum or political background. The Group will investigate into any complaints of discrimination or 

harassment and take necessary actions. Anti-discrimination is an important part of our recruitment, promotion 

and dismissal processes. The Group has covered all employees with the applicable retirement scheme according 

to relevant laws/regulations and provides them with other benefits including medical benefits. The Group’s 

management reviews the Group’s internal management systems on a regular basis and updates its employee 

compensation and benefit policies according to changes in labour laws. The Group continues to strengthen 

its HR management strategy and provides its employees with career development opportunities, appropriate 

incentives and a good working environment.

The Group is committed to create an anti-discrimination and anti-harassment workplace for employees. The 

Group will conduct earnest investigation and take appropriate actions in relation to cases of discrimination and 

harassment at its discretion. The Group respects human rights and the personal freedoms of its employees. 

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group reviewed all employment records and strictly complied with 

employment laws/ regulations in the jurisdictions we operated and did not use any child labour or forced labour.
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empLoYee manaGement (Continued)

employees’ Background

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 9 employees and 8 of them（89%（ possess a bachelor’s degree 

or above. The analysis by age, gender, position and geographic distribution of the Group’s employees are as 

follows:

number percentage   

By Region

Hong Kong 9 100%

By Gender

Male 6 67%

Female 3 33%

By Type

Management 5 56%

Non-management 4 44%

By Age

Below 31 years old 1 11%

31–50 years old 8 89%

The analysis of staff turnover rate by different categories are as follows:

number percentage   

By Region

Hong Kong 3 33%

By Gender

Male 2 22%

Female 1 11%

By Type

Management 2 22%

Non-management 1 11%

By Age

Below 31 years old 0 0%

31–50 years old 3 33%
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empLoYee manaGement (Continued)

Development and training

In order to promote employees’ career development and solidify the foundation of the Group’s sustainable 

development, the Group encourages employees to take part in relevant courses offered by professional 

organizations and, through these courses, improve their professional knowledge, skills, techniques and 

competitiveness and broaden their horizons. The Group invites various outside parties regularly to provide 

training on various aspects.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, all employees of the Group attended training on various topics, including 

occupational safety and health, and the coverage of training reached 100%. The average training hours for 

male/ female/ management/ non-management staff are 5 hours, 10 hours, 4 hours and 10 hours respectively.

health and safety

The Group cares for its employees regarding their health and benefits and provide them with insurance plans to 

enhance their social security and reduce their medical costs. The Group reviews its workplace and safety policies 

regularly to ensure compliance with applicable laws. All accidents are required to be reported to the Group 

and subject to evaluation according to the Group’s internal processes. The Group briefs new employees on 

occupational health and safety policy at induction, and communicate the latest occupational safety information 

on a regular basis. The Group did not experience any industrial accident or injury for the year ended 31 March 

2019.

CompLIanCe operatIon

supply Chain management

The Group is committed to setting up of a long term supply and demand cooperation relationship, strictly 

selecting suppliers and prudently considering the certifications in relation to product quality and environmental 

protection. The Group also regularly assesses suppliers to establish a stable supply chain. In case of disqualified 

supplier, the Group, upon confirmation through inspection, will immediately terminate the contract and solve 

the problem to ensure product quality. For the year ended 31 March 2019, there are total of 16 suppliers from 

eight countries/districts:

Australia 5 32%
Singapore 4 25%
Hong Kong 2 13%
Japan 1 6%
Switzerland 1 6%
Indonesia 1 6%
USA 1 6%
Vietnam 1 6%

Total 16 100%
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CompLIanCe operatIon (Continued)

privacy protection and product responsibility

The Group protects confidentiality of personal information and customer privacy and complies with the 

Personal Data (PRIVACY) Ordinance (Chapter 486). The Group has formulated detailed codes of conduct for 

operation and service to protect customer privacy. The Group requires employees to comprehensively comply 

with instructions on customer data treatment and prohibits them from copying, communicating or disclosing 

confidential information without authorization to reduce the risk of information leakage.

The Group observes and protects intel lectual property r ights, and opposes any form of intel lectual 

property infringement. The Group has included this provision in employee handbooks and ensured its strict 

implementation through corporate policies, systems and processes.

In addition, the Group has a quality control system in place for all the products sold. Product quality is in line 

with safety and health regulations and remains stable for a long time. The Group has set up a channel for 

prompt treatment of customers’ query, feedback, complaints and relevant after-sales services. The Group values 

customers’ complaints and conducts internal investigation through fair, open and just means. Provisions of 

investigation results and reasons will be provided to the customers affected and subsequent remedial measures 

will be taken. The Group also regularly conducts spot check of product quality and reviews the aspects for 

improvement according to customers’ opinions and complaints, so as to improve the product and service level 

of the Company. For the year ended 31 March 2019, no non-compliance issues are discovered on the aspects of 

privacy protection and product responsibility.

anti-corruption

The Group complies with all applicable anti-corruption laws/regulations and subjects the employees to internal 

code of conduct, requiring them to behave ethically, do things honestly, treat others fairly, respect diversity, 

comply with all laws, accept accountability and communicate openly. The Group encourages employees, 

customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to pay attention to and report on any misconduct relating to the 

Group. For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group did not receive any report regarding bribery, corruption, 

extortion, fraud or money laundering case relating to the Group.

Care for Community

The Group is committed to support community development in the areas where it operates and having a positive 

influence on the local communities. The Group supports community engagement, contribute to cultural and 

social development, and encourage employees to get involved in volunteer services and community activities to 

promote cultural diversity and community values. During the year, the employees of the Group made donations 

to various charitable orgnaisations in Hong Kong.



Annual Report 2018-2019 45

envIronmentaL, soCIaL anD GovernanCe report

esG reportInG GuIDe Content InDeX

KpIs
hong Kong stock exchange 
esG report Index section/remarks   

a1 emissions

General Disclosure Information on:

(a)  the policies; and
(b)  compl iance with re levant laws and 

regulat ions that have a s igni f icant 
impact on the issuer relating to air and 
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges 
into water and land, and generation of 

hazardous and nonhazardous waste

Environmental Policy and Resources 

Management Measures

KPI A1.1 The  t ype s  o f  em i s s i on s  and  r e spec t i v e 

emissions data.

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures 

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) 

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 

unit of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 

unit of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A1.4 Tota l non-hazardous waste produced ( in 

tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. 

per unit of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions 

and results achieved.

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A1.6 Descr ipt ion of how hazardous and non-

hazardous wastes are handled, reduct ion 

initiatives and results achieved.

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures
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esG reportInG GuIDe Content InDeX (Continued)

KpIs
hong Kong stock exchange 
esG report Index section/remarks   

a2 use of resources

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, 

i nc lud ing energy ,  wate r  and o the r  raw 

materials.

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption 

by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total 

(kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of 

production volume, per facility). 

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. 

per unit of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives 

and results achieved.

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures 

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in 

sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 

efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished 

products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with 

reference to per unit produced.

Not applicable to the Group’s 
businesses.

a3 the environment and natural resources

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant 

impact on the env i ronment and natura l 

resources.

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures 

KPI A3.1 Descr ipt ion of the s ignif icant impacts of 

activit ies on the environment and natural 

resources and the actions taken to manage 

them. 

Environmental Policy and Resources 
Management Measures
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esG reportInG GuIDe Content InDeX (Continued)

KpIs
hong Kong stock exchange 
esG report Index section/remarks   

B1 employment

General Disclosure Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b)  compl iance with re levant laws and 

regulat ions that have a s igni f icant 

i m p a c t  o n  t h e  i s s u e r  r e l a t i n g 

t o  c o m p e n s a t i o n  a n d  d i s m i s s a l , 

recruitment and promotion, working 

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, 

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other 

benefits and welfare.

Employee Management — Employment 
Policy and Labour Standards, 
Employees’ Background

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, 

age group and geographical region. 

Employee Management — Employment 
Policy and Labour Standards, 
Employees’ Background

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group 

and geographical region. 

Employee Management — Employment 
Policy and Labour Standards, 
Employees’ Background

B2 health and safety

General Disclosure Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b)  compl iance with re levant laws and 

regulat ions that have a s igni f icant 

i m p a c t  o n  t h e  i s s u e r  r e l a t i n g  t o 

providing a safe working environment 

a n d  p r o t e c t i n g  e m p l o y e e s  f r o m 

occupational hazards.

Employee Management — Health and 

Safety

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Employee Management — Health and 
Safety

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Employee Management — Health and 
Safety

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 

measures adopted, how they are implemented 

and monitored.

Employee Management — Health and 
Safety
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KpIs
hong Kong stock exchange 
esG report Index section/remarks   

B3 Development and training

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge 

and ski l ls for discharging duties at work. 

Description of training activities.

Employee Management — Development 
and Training

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees tra ined by 

gender and employee category (e.g. senior 

management, middle management).

Employee Management — Development 
and Training

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per 

employee by gender and employee category.

Employee Management — Development 
and Training

B4 Labour standards

General Disclosure Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b)  compl iance with re levant laws and 

regulat ions that have a s igni f icant 

i m p a c t  o n  t h e  i s s u e r  r e l a t i n g  t o 

preventing child and forced labour.

Employee Management — Employment 

Policy and Labour Standards

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

Employee Management — Employment 
Policy and Labour Standards

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 

practices when discovered.

Employee Management — Employment 
Policy and Labour Standards

B5 supply Chain management

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social 

risks of the supply chain.

Compliance Operation — Supply Chain 
Management

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Compliance Operation — Supply Chain 
Management

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 

suppliers, number of suppliers where the 

practices are being implemented, how they 

are implemented and monitored.

Compliance Operation — Supply Chain 
Management

esG reportInG GuIDe Content InDeX (Continued)
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KpIs
hong Kong stock exchange 
esG report Index section/remarks   

B6 product responsibility

General Disclosure Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b)  compl iance with re levant laws and 

regulat ions that have a s igni f icant 

impact on the issuer relating to health 

and safety, advertising, labelling and 

privacy matters relating to products 

and services provided and methods of 

redress.

Compliance Operation — Privacy 

Protection and Product Responsibility

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped 

sub ject  to reca l l s  for  safety and hea l th 

reasons.

No relevant circumstances occurred. 

KPI B6.2 Number of products and serv ice re lated 

complaints received and how they are dealt 

with.

Compliance Operation — Privacy 
Protection and Product Responsibility

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing 

and protecting intellectual property rights.

Compliance Operation — Privacy 
Protection and Product Responsibility

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and 

recall procedures.

Compliance Operation — Privacy 
Protection and Product Responsibility 

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and 

privacy policies, how they are implemented 

and monitored.

Compliance Operation — Privacy 
Protection and Product Responsibility

esG reportInG GuIDe Content InDeX (Continued)
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KpIs
hong Kong stock exchange 
esG report Index section/remarks   

B7 anticorruption

General Disclosure Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b)  compl iance with re levant laws and 

regulat ions that have a s igni f icant 

impact on the issuer relating to bribery, 

extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Compliance Operation — Anti-

corruption

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding 

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or 

its employees during the reporting period and 

the outcomes of the cases.

No relevant circumstances occurred.

KPI B7.2 Descr ip t ion of  prevent i ve measures and 

whist leblowing procedures, how they are 

implemented and monitored.

Compliance Operation — Anti-
corruption

B8 Community Investment

General Disclosure P o l i c i e s  o n  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  t o 

understand the needs of the communities 

where the issuer operates and to ensure 

i ts act iv i t ies take into cons iderat ion the 

communities’ interests.

Care for community

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 

environmental concerns, labour needs, health, 

culture, sport).

Care for community

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to 

the focus area.

Care for community
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InDepenDent auDItor’s report to the sharehoLDers 
of ares asIa LImIteD
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

opInIon

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ares Asia Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(“the Group”) set out on pages 56 to 105, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 

31 March 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared 

in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BasIs for opInIon

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 

with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KeY auDIt matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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InDepenDent auDItor’s report to the sharehoLDers 
of ares asIa LImIteD
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

KeY auDIt matters (Continued)

revenue recognition
Refer to accounting policy note 1(q) and note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
the key audit matter how the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group is principally engaged in the coal trading 
business.

Revenue mainly represents income from the sale of 
coal sourced from various countries to customers in 
Mainland China.

The Group enters into sale and purchase agreements 
with customers and, in accordance with the terms 
of the agreements, revenue is recognised when 
the control of the coal has been transferred to the 
customers which is determined to be when the coal 
is transferred to the ship at the point of origin’s 
anchorage.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit 
matter because revenue is one of the key performance 
indicators of the Group and therefore there is an 
inherent risk of manipulation of the recognition of 
revenue by management to meet specific targets or 
expectations.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of 
revenue included the following:

•	 eva luat ing	 the	 des ign,	 implementat ion	 and	
operating effectiveness of key internal controls 
which govern revenue recognition;

•	 inspecting	 sale	 and	 purchase	 agreements,	 on	 a	
sample basis, to understand the terms of delivery 
and assess whether management recognised 
the related revenue in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policies, with reference to 
the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards;

•	 c o m p a r i n g , 	 o n 	 a 	 s a m p l e 	 b a s i s , 	 r e v e n u e	
transactions recorded during the year with the 
underlying sale and purchase agreements, bills 
of lading, invoices and bank-in slips for settled 
balances and assess ing whether the related 
revenue had been recognised in accordance with 
the Group’s revenue recognition policies;

•	 obtaining	 confirmations,	 on	 a	 sample	 basis,	
from major customers of the Group of sales 
transactions during the year and, for unreturned 
confirmations, performing alternative procedures 
by comparing details of the transactions with 
relevant underlying documentation;

•	 comparing,	 on	 a	 sample	 basis,	 specific	 revenue	
t ransact ions recorded before and after the 
financial year end date with the underlying sale 
and purchase agreements and bills of lading to 
determine whether the related revenue had been 
recognised in the appropriate financial period;

•	 scrutinising	 all	 journals	 affecting	 revenue	 raised	
during the reporting period and comparing details 
of a sample of these journals, which met certain 
r isk-based cr i ter ia, with relevant under ly ing 
documentation.
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InDepenDent auDItor’s report to the sharehoLDers 
of ares asIa LImIteD
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

InformatIon other than the ConsoLIDateD fInanCIaL statements anD auDItor’s report 

thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information 

included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

responsIBILItIes of the DIreCtors for the ConsoLIDateD fInanCIaL statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process.
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InDepenDent auDItor’s report to the sharehoLDers 
of ares asIa LImIteD
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

auDItor’s responsIBILItIes for the auDIt of the ConsoLIDateD fInanCIaL statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda 

Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to 

any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	 and	 assess	 the	 risks	 of	 material	 misstatement	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements,	 whether	

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 audit	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	 procedures	

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 accounting	 policies	 used	 and	 the	 reasonableness	 of	 accounting	 estimates	

and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	 on	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	 directors’	 use	 of	 the	 going	 concern	 basis	 of	 accounting	 and,	

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	 including	

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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InDepenDent auDItor’s report to the sharehoLDers 
of ares asIa LImIteD
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

auDItor’s responsIBILItIes for the auDIt of the ConsoLIDateD fInanCIaL statements 

(Continued)

•	 Obtain	 sufficient	 appropriate	 audit	 evidence	 regarding	 the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 entities	 or	

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lee Ka Nang.

KpmG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 June 2019
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ConsoLIDateD statement of ComprehensIve InCome
for the year ended 31 March 2019
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2019 2018

Note $’000 $’000    

revenue 3 198,348 198,669

Cost of sales (197,079) (198,274)    

Gross profit 1,269 395

Other income 4 34 14

Selling expenses (162) (130)

Administrative expenses (1,761) (2,077)    

Loss from operations (620) (1,798)

Finance costs 5(a) (856) (680)    

Loss before taxation 5 (1,476) (2,478)

Income tax 6(a) — —    

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year (1,476) (2,478)
    

Loss per share 9

Basic and diluted (0.43 cent) (0.72 cent)
    

The notes on pages 60 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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ConsoLIDateD statement of fInanCIaL posItIon
at 31 March 2019
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2019 2018
Note $’000 $’000    

non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 3 10    

3 10    

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 12 22,276 59,030
Cash and bank balances 13(a) 3,848 8,443    

26,124 67,473    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 15,867 9,195
Discounted bills with recourse 15 2,956 49,508    

18,823 58,703
    

net current assets 7,301 8,770
    

net assets 7,304 8,780
    

CapItaL anD reserves

Share capital 17(b) 441 441
Reserves 6,863 8,339    

totaL eQuItY 7,304 8,780
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2019

ruaYrunGruanG Woraphanit Lai Yi-Chun

Director Director

The notes on pages 60 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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ConsoLIDateD statement of ChanGes In eQuItY
for the year ended 31 March 2019
(Expressed in United States dollars)

share

capital

share

premium 

account

Contributed

surplus

accumulated 

losses

total 

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000      

Balance at 1 april 2017 441 172 15,088 (4,443) 11,258

Change in equity for the 

year ended 31 march 

2018:

Loss and total comprehensive 

income for the year — — — (2,478) (2,478)      

Balance at 31 march 2018 

and 1 april 2018 441 172 15,088 (6,921) 8,780

Change in equity for the 

year ended 31 march 

2019:

Loss and total comprehensive 

income for the year — — — (1,476) (1,476)      

Balance at 31 march 2019 441 172 15,088 (8,397) 7,304
      

The notes on pages 60 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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ConsoLIDateD Cash fLoW statement
for the year ended 31 March 2019
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2019 2018
Note $’000 $’000    

operating activities

Loss before taxation (1,476) (2,478)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 5(c) 7 17
Interest income 4 (1) (3)
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 4 (19) —
Finance costs 5(a) 856 680

Changes in working capital:
Decrease in trade and other receivables 36,754 1,200
Increase in trade and other payables 6,672 4,033    

net cash generated from operating activities 42,793 3,449    

Investing activities

(Decrease)/increase in pledged bank balances 4,220 (4,220)
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment — (5)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 19 —
Interest received 1 3    

net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 4,240 (4,222)    

financing activities

Decrease in discounted bills with recourse (46,552) (6,553)
Interest paid (856) (680)    

net cash used in financing activities (47,408) (7,233)
    

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (375) (8,006)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4,223 12,229    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13(a) 3,848 4,223
    

The notes on pages 60 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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notes to the fInanCIaL statements
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes

(a) statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting 

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted by the 

Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early 

adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on any 

changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent 

that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these 

financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 comprise the Company 

and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost 

basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying 

values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods.

Major sources of estimation uncertainty in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on 

the financial statements are discussed in note 2.
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notes to the fInanCIaL statements
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(c) Change in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective 
for the current accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following developments are relevant 
to the Group’s financial statements:

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

(ii) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

(iii) HK(IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the 
current accounting period.

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition and measurement. It sets out 
the requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some 
contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items that existed at 1 April 2018 in 
accordance with the transition requirements. There is no significant impact on the Group’s 
financial position and financial result upon initial application at 1 April 2018.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous accounting policies and 
the transition approach are set out below:

a. Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three principal classification categories: 
measured at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income and 
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”). These supersede HKAS 39’s categories of 
held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets 
and financial assets measured at FVPL. The classification of financial assets under 
HKFRS 9 is based on the business model under which the financial asset is managed 
and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

Under HKFRS 9, the classification for all of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost remain the same. The carrying amounts for all 
financial assets and financial liabilities at 1 April 2018 have not been impacted by the 
initial application of HKFRS 9.

The Group did not designate or de-designate any financial asset or financial liability at 
FVPL at 1 April 2018.



Ares Asia Limited62

notes to the fInanCIaL statements
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(c) Change in accounting policies (continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (continued)

b. Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with the “expected credit 

loss” (“ECL”) model. The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk 

associated with a financial asset and therefore recognises ECLs earlier than under the 

“incurred loss” accounting model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to financial assets measured at amortised cost 

(including cash and bank balances and trade and other receivables).

(ii) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising revenue and some costs 

from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18, Revenue, which covered 

revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, construction 

contracts, which specified the accounting for construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements 

which aim to enable users of the financial statements to understand the nature, amount, 

timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any material impact on the financial position and 

the financial result of the Group.

(iii) HK(IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration

This interpretation provides guidance on determining “the date of the transaction” for the 

purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, 

expense or income (or part of it) arising from a transaction in which an entity receives or 

pays advance consideration in a foreign currency.
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notes to the fInanCIaL statements
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(c) Change in accounting policies (continued)

(iii) HK(IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration (continued)

The Interpretation clarifies that “the date of the transaction” is the date on initial 

recognition of the non-monetary asset or liability arising from the payment or receipt of 

advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising 

the related item, the date of the transaction for each payment or receipt should be 

determined in this way. The adoption of HK(IFRIC) 22 does not have any material impact on 

the financial position and the financial result of the Group.

(d) subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, 

or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, 

only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the 

date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions 

and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in 

full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is 

no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling 

and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, 

but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest 

in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest 

retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value 

and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when 

appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 

impairment losses (see note 1(g)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.
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1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(e) property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses (see note 1(g)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment 

are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 

the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their 

estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as 

follows:

— Leasehold improvements 4 years or over the remaining term 

of the lease, if shorter

— Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4 years

— Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the 

item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. 

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(f) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the 

Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an 

agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is 

made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether 

the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all 

the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases 

which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are 

classified as operating leases.
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1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(f) Leased assets (continued)

(ii) Operating leases charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under the 

leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered 

by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern 

of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in 

profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

i. Credit losses from financial instruments

A. Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on financial assets measured at 

amortised cost (including cash and bank balances and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured 

as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the 

cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 

the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rate where 

the effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables: effective interest 

rate determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 

period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable 

information that is available without undue cost or effort. This includes information 

about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

i. Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

A. Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible 

default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible 

default events over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model 

applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to 

lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix 

based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 

specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general 

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal 

to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the 

financial instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is 

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the 

financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of 

initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default 

event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the 

Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if 

any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 150 days past due. The Group considers both 

quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including 

historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue 

cost or effort.



Annual Report 2018-2019 67

notes to the fInanCIaL statements
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

i. Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

A. Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether 

credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due 

dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s 

external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the 

debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal 

environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to 

meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant 

increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. 

When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 

grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit 

risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial 

instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is 

recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an 

impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment 

to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

i. Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

A. Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 1(q)(ii) is calculated based on 

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-

impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. 

the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-

impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a 

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 

occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable 

events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 

that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial 

difficulties of the issuer.
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1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

i. Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

A. Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in 

full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the 

case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of 

income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the 

write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a 

reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

B. Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

Prior to 1 April 2018, an “incurred loss” model was used to measure impairment 

losses on financial assets not classified as at FVPL (e.g. trade and other receivables). 

Under the “incurred loss” model, an impairment loss was recognised only when there 

was objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment included:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract , such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; and

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 

that have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

i. Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

B. Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (continued)

If any such evidence existed, an impairment loss was determined and recognised as 

follows:

For trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, 

the impairment loss was measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 

financial asset’s original effective interest rate, where the effect of discounting 

Is material. This assessment was made collectively where these financial assets 

share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and had not been 

individually assessed as Impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which were 

assessed for impairment collectively were based on historical loss experience for assets 

with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 

was recognised, the impairment loss was reversed through profit or loss. A reversal 

of an impairment loss was only recognised to the extent that it did not result in the 

asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

When the recovery of a trade debtor or other financial assets carried at amortised 

cost was considered doubtful but not remote, associated impairment losses were 

recorded using an allowance account. When the Group was satisfied that recovery 

was remote, the amount considered irrecoverable was written off against the gross 

carrying amount of those assets directly. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

charged to the allowance account were reversed against the allowance account. Other 

changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off directly were recognised in profit or loss.
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(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

ii. Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, an impairment 

loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment;

— prepayments for supply contracts; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of 

disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 

are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those 

from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of 

assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, 

or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first 

to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or group of units) on a 

pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below 

its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if 

determinable).

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates 

used to determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of an impairment loss is limited 

to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 

loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to 

profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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1 sIGnIfICant aCCountInG poLICIes (continued)

(h) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs 

of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 

condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 

estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense 

in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of 

inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the 

period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories 

is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 

which the reversal occurs.

(i) trade and other receivables (other than prepayments for supply contracts)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. 

A right to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before 

payment of that consideration is due. Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(g)(i)).

(j) prepayments for supply contracts

Prepayments for supply contracts are stated at cost less allowance for impairment losses (see note 

1(g)(ii)).

(k) trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at 

amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated 

at cost.
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(l) Discounted bills with recourse

Discounted bills with recourse are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction 

costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, discounted bills with recourse are stated at amortised cost 

with any difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being recognised 

in profit or loss over the year of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using 

the effective interest method.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and 

other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 

into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 

having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed 

for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(g)(i).

(n) employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 

and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are 

rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, 

these amounts are stated at their present values.

(o) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss 

except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted 

or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in 

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences 

respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 

financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax 

losses and unused tax credits.
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(o) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 

be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax 

assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal 

of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation 

authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the 

expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising 

from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when 

determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax 

assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if 

they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse 

in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary 

differences arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting 

nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the 

Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will 

reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation 

or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 

discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 

to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it 

becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately 

from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and 

deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally 

enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following 

additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to 

settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or
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(o) Income tax (continued)

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts 

of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to 

realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or 

realise and settle simultaneously.

(p) provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the 

Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the 

present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 

cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 

probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will 

only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also 

disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(q) revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary 

course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is transferred to the customer at the amount 

of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts 

collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is 

after deduction of any trade discounts.
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(q) revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of and accepts the goods.

In the comparative period, revenue was recognised when the customer had accepted the 

related risks and rewards of ownership.

(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. For financial 

assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is 

applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the 

effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss 

allowance) of the asset (see note 1(g)(i)).

(r) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(s) related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 

parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 

venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
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(s) related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 

the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 

the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of 

the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 

personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 

influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(t) segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 

are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior 

executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance 

of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes 

unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature 

of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the 

methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 

environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they 

share a majority of these criteria.
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2 aCCountInG estImates

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 18 contains information about the assumptions and their risk factors relating to financial 

instruments. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Loss allowance on receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for receivables. The provision matrix is based 

on the Group’s historical credit loss experience (including credit history of its customers) and the 

current and forecast economic conditions. Management reassesses the provision at the end of each 

reporting period.

Significant judgement is exercised on the assessment of the collectability of receivables from each 

customer. In making the judgement, management considers a wide range of factors such as ageing 

of the receivables, customer credit-worthiness and historical write-off experience. If the financial 

conditions of the customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their 

ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

(ii) Other impairment losses

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of property, plant and equipment and prepayments 

may not be recoverable, these assets may be considered impaired, and an impairment loss may 

be recognised in accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets. The carrying amounts of these 

assets are reviewed periodically in order to assess whether the recoverable amounts have declined 

below the carrying amounts. These assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such 

a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. It is difficult 

to estimate precisely fair values because quoted market prices for the Group’s assets are not 

readily available. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by the asset are 

discounted to their present value, which requires significant judgment relating to revenue and 

amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information in determining an 

amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including estimates based on 

reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and amount of operating 

costs.

(iii) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the future tax treatment of certain 

transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are 

set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into 

account all changes in tax legislations.
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3 revenue anD seGment reportInG

(a) revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the coal trading business. All of the revenue for the year 

ended 31 March 2019 is recognised in accordance with HKFRS 15. Revenue from contracts with 

customers, which is also the Group’s turnover, mainly represents the sales value of coal in the 

ordinary course of businesses which are recognised at a point in time.

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows:

Coal and 

other trading

$’000  

2019

Customer D 103,890

Customer B 47,567

Customer C 23,884
  

2018

Customer B 67,798

Customer C 64,027

Customer A 44,317
  

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed below.

(b) segment reporting

The Group has a single reportable segment which is “coal and other trading”. Accordingly, the 

business segment information for this sole reportable segment is equivalent to the consolidated 

figures.
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3 revenue anD seGment reportInG (continued)

(b) segment reporting (continued)

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue 

from external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment. The geographical 

location of customers is based on the location at which the goods delivered. The geographical 

location of the property, plant and equipment is based on the physical location of the asset.

revenue from external 

customers

property, plant and 

equipment

2019 2018 2019 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     

Mainland China 198,182 198,669 — —

Hong Kong 72 — 3 10

Others 94 — — —     

198,348 198,669 3 10
     

4 other InCome

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Bank interest income 1 3

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 19 —

Net foreign exchange gain 14 11   

34 14
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5 Loss Before taXatIon

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

(a) finance costs

Interest on discounted bills 856 680
   

(b) staff costs

Salaries, wages and other benefits 717 932

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 19 17   

736 949
   

(c) other items

Cost of inventories 183,305 183,132

Operating lease charges in respect of properties 259 356

Depreciation 7 17

Auditors’ remuneration 94 94
   

6 InCome taX In the ConsoLIDateD statement of ComprehensIve InCome

(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 

2018 as the Group’s operations in Hong Kong sustained a loss for Hong Kong Profits Tax purpose.
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6 InCome taX In the ConsoLIDateD statement of ComprehensIve InCome (continued)

(b) reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Loss before taxation (1,476) (2,478)

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at the 

rates applicable to loss in the jurisdictions concerned (243) (408)

Tax effect of non-taxable income (6) (2)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 78 89

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 171 321   

  

Actual tax expense — —
   

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

The Group has not recognised tax losses of $15,326,000 (2018: $14,287,000) as deferred tax 

assets as it is not probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the tax losses to 

be utilised in the foreseeable future. The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.
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7 DIreCtors’ emoLuments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed with reference to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 

and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as 

follows:

Directors’

fees

salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

retirement 

scheme 

contributions

2019

total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     

executive directors

RUAYRUNGRUANG Woraphanit — 105 2 107

Lai Yi-Chun (appointed on  

1 November 2018) — 47 1 48

Wang Chih-Wei (resigned on  

30 July 2018) — 53 1 54

Independent non-executive 

directors

CHANG Jesse 23 — — 23

NGAN Hing Hon 23 — — 23

YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney 23 — — 23     

Total 69 205 4 278
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7 DIreCtors’ emoLuments (continued)

Directors’

fees

Salaries,

 allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Retirement 

scheme 

contributions

2018

Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     

executive directors

RUAYRUNGRUANG Woraphanit 

(appointed on 5 January 2018) — 23 — 23

Wang Chih-Wei (appointed on  

5 January 2018) — 21 — 21

ZHENG Yong Sheng (resigned on  

27 December 2017) — 347 2 349

RAN Dong (resigned on  

19 December 2017) 10 — — 10

Independent non-executive 

directors

CHANG Jesse 23 — — 23

NGAN Hing Hon 23 — — 23

YEUNG Kin Bond, Sydney 23 — — 23     

Total 79 391 2 472
     

8 InDIvIDuaLs WIth hIGhest emoLuments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2018: one) is a director whose emoluments are 

disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other four (2018: four) individuals 

are as follows:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Salaries and other emoluments 277 261

Retirement scheme contributions 9 9   

  

286 270
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8 InDIvIDuaLs WIth hIGhest emoLuments (continued)

The emoluments of the four (2018: four) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following 

bands:

2019 2018

Number of

individuals

Number of

individuals   

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 4
   

9 Loss per share

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to ordinary equity 

shareholders of the Company of $1,476,000 (2018: $2,478,000) and the weighted average of 

342,116,934 ordinary shares (2018: 342,116,934 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for the years ended 31 

March 2019 and 2018 as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during that year.
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10 propertY, pLant anD eQuIpment

Leasehold

improvements

Furniture,

fixtures and

equipment

Motor

vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     

Cost:

At 1 April 2017 32 157 98 287

Additions — 5 — 5     

At 31 March 2018 32 162 98 292     

accumulated depreciation:

At 1 April 2017 26 141 98 265

Charge for the year 6 11 — 17     

At 31 March 2018 32 152 98 282
     

net book value:

At 31 March 2018 — 10 — 10
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10 propertY, pLant anD eQuIpment (continued)

Leasehold

improvements

furniture,

fixtures and

equipment

motor

vehicles total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     

Cost:

At 1 April 2018 32 162 98 292

Disposals — — (98) (98)     

At 31 March 2019 32 162 — 194     

accumulated depreciation:

At 1 April 2018 32 152 98 282

Charge for the year — 7 — 7

Written back on disposals — — (98) (98)     

At 31 March 2019 32 159 — 191
     

net book value:

At 31 March 2019 — 3 — 3
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11 Investments In suBsIDIarIes

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets 

or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

proportion of

ownership interest

name

place of

incorporation 

and operations

particulars of

issued and paid up

share capital

Group’s 

effective 

interest

held

by a 

subsidiaries

principal

activities      

Able Point Corporation 

Limited

Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holding

Ares Repco Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Coal trading

12 traDe anD other reCeIvaBLes

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Trade debtors and bills receivable 20,501 58,474

Prepayments and other receivables 12,839 11,620

Less: impairment on prepayments and other receivables (11,064) (11,064)   

22,276 59,030
   

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group (through its subsidiary, Ares Repco Limited) entered 

into coal sale and purchase agreements (“the Original Agreements”) with a marketing agent (“the 

Original Supplier”) of two coal miners in Indonesia. Under the Original Agreements, the Group made 

prepayments in the aggregate amount of $13,000,000 to the Original Supplier to secure long-term supply 

of thermal coal from the relevant coal miners. The prepayments were recoverable by deducting a pre-

agreed amount from the unit cost of coal purchased by the Group.
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12 traDe anD other reCeIvaBLes (continued)

On 22 July 2015, the Group, the Original Supplier and another agent of the two coal miners in Indonesia 

(“the New Supplier”) entered into a deed of transfer and amendment (“the Deed”), pursuant to which 

the Original Supplier transferred certain of its rights, titles and interest in and to the Original Agreements 

to the New Supplier, and amended certain terms of the Original Agreements, details of which were 

disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 22 July 2015. Under the Original Agreements as 

amended by the Deed, the New Supplier agreed to deliver up to approximately 11.6 million metric tonnes 

of thermal coal to the Group by the end of 2017, at prices to be agreed between the parties in purchase 

contracts. The Original Supplier was also entitled to half of the profit margin (“the Original Seller’s 

Entitlement”) earned by the Group on the sale of the thermal coal in consideration of its facilitating the 

entering into the Deed among the parties and referral of potential end customers to the Group. As at the 

date of the Deed, the unutilised balance of prepayments made to the Original Supplier was approximately 

$11.6 million and the Original Seller’s Entitlements would be deducted from such balance of prepayments. 

Save for the amendments made to the Original Agreements, the other terms of the Original Agreements 

remained in full force and effect.

As at 31 March 2016, the unutilised prepayments amounted to $11,565,000. The directors reassessed 

the recoverability of the unutilised prepayments based on all relevant information available to the Group. 

Due to the continuing downturn of coal market, the low demand of coal and minimal utilisation of the 

prepayments, and the Group’s efforts in negotiation with the Original Supplier and New Supplier to 

secure the delivery of thermal coal under the terms of the Original Agreements as amended by the Deed, 

as well as demand for repayment which were in vain, the directors considered that there was significant 

uncertainty as to the ability of the Group to recover the balance of the prepayments through either 

utilisation from future purchases or repayment of the prepayments. Accordingly, a full impairment loss 

was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the year ended 31 March 

2016.

In December 2016, the Group restructured the rights and obligations under the Original Agreements 

amended by the Deed, through a series of contracts signed and exchanged with the relevant parties 

(“the New Agreements”), details of which were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 

12 December 2016. Under the New Agreements, the remainder of the unutilised prepayments are to 

be utilised on an agreed basis against each purchase, either through an application of the prepayment 

towards purchases or by cash payment to the Group from the Original Supplier, in each case with 

an annual minimum repayment of $2,000,000. During the year ended 31 March 2017, unutilised 

prepayments and other receivables in total of $640,000 were recovered from the Original Supplier. 

Accordingly, the impairment loss recognised in prior year was reversed and credited in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2017 to the extent of the actual 

amount recovered.
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12 traDe anD other reCeIvaBLes (continued)

No further prepayments and other receivables have been utilised or recovered from the Original Supplier 

during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, with the result that the Original Supplier is in breach 

of its minimum annual repayment obligations of $2,000,000 under the New Agreements. As at 31 March 

2019, approximately $11.1 million of the prepayments remains outstanding which was fully impaired. The 

Directors will continue to negotiate with the Original Supplier to seek and consider all of their options to 

recover the prepayments, whether through supply of coal or otherwise, including potential legal action.

Included in “Trade and other receivables” are trade debtors and bills receivable with the following ageing 

analysis, based on the invoice date (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier), as of the end of the 

reporting period:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Within 1 month 12,676 8,966

More than 1 month but within 3 months 4,045 49,508

More than 3 months but within 6 months 3,780 —   

20,501 58,474
   

The credit terms offered to customers of coal and other trading business are negotiated on a case-by-case 

basis. Irrevocable letters of credit, up to a tenor of 150 days (2018: 90 days) after the receipt of required 

documents by nominated banks, are usually required not later than 14 days prior to the expected date of 

vessel’s arrival at loading port as stipulated in the sales agreements.
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13 Cash anD BanK BaLanCes

(a) Cash and bank balances comprise:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Pledged bank balances (note) — 4,220

Cash at bank and in hand 3,848 4,223   

3,848 8,443

Pledged bank balances — (4,220)   

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow 

statement 3,848 4,223
   

Note: At 31 March 2018, these bank balances were pledged to bank for letters of credit.

(b) reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both 

cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash 

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the group’s consolidated cash flow statement 

as cash flows from financing activities.
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13 Cash anD BanK BaLanCes (continued)

(b) reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (continued)

Discounted bills with

recourse (Note 15)

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

at 1 april 49,508 56,061   

Changes from financing cash flows:

Decrease in discounted bills with recourse (46,552) (6,553)

Interest paid (856) (680)   

Total changes from financing cash flows (47,408) (7,233)

other change:

Interest expenses (note 5(a)) 856 680   

Total other change (46,552) (6,553)
   

at 31 march 2,956 49,508
   

14 traDe anD other paYaBLes

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Trade creditors 15,111 8,458

Other payables and accrued expenses 756 737   

15,867 9,195
   

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as income within one year or 

are repayable on demand.
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14 traDe anD other paYaBLes (continued)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade creditors, based on the invoice date, is 

as follows:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Within 1 month 15,111 8,458
   

15 DIsCounteD BILLs WIth reCourse

Bills discounted with banks at an effective interest rate ranging from 3.41% to 4.12% (2018: 2.41% to 

3.03%) per annum as at 31 March 2019 have maturity profiles of no more than 90 days.

16 empLoYee retIrement BenefIts

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong 

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong 

Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by 

independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make 

contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant 

income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits associated with the 

Scheme and the MPF scheme beyond the annual contributions described above.
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17 CapItaL anD reserves

(a) movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s 

consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the 

changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of 

the year are set out below:

share

capital

share

premium 

account

Contributed

surplus

accumulated 

losses total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000      

Balance at 1 april 2017 441 172 15,088 (4,440) 11,261

Change in equity for the year 

ended 31 march 2018:

Loss and total comprehensive income 

for the year — — — (2,476) (2,476)      

Balance at 31 march 2018 and  

1 april 2018 441 172 15,088 (6,916) 8,785

Change in equity for the year 

ended 31 march 2019:

Loss and total comprehensive income 

for the year — — — (1,374) (1,374)      

Balance at 31 march 2019 441 172 15,088 (8,290) 7,411
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17 CapItaL anD reserves (continued)

(b) share capital

2019 2018

number

of shares amount

Number

of shares Amount

$’000 $’000     

authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 36,000,000,000 46,452 36,000,000,000 46,452
     

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 342,116,934 441 342,116,934 441
     

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and 

are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally 

with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(c) nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 40 of the Companies 

Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(ii) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus arose from the Group reorganisation in prior years.

(d) Distributability of reserves

In addition to retained profits, under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus 

account of the Company is also available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or 

pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or
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17 CapItaL anD reserves (continued)

(d) Distributability of reserves (continued)

(ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities 

and its issued share capital and share premium account.

At 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity 

shareholders of the Company amounted to $6,798,000 (2018: $8,172,000).

(e) Dividends

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 

(2018: Nil).

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and 

benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products commensurately with the level of risk and by 

securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group defines “capital” as including all components of equity. On this basis the amount of 

capital employed at 31 March 2019 was $7,304,000 (2018: $8,780,000).

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 

economic conditions. The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis and considers the 

cost of capital and the associated risks. Based on recommendations of the board of directors, the 

Group will balance its overall capital structure through adjusting the amount of dividends paid to 

shareholders, new share issues or new debt financing. No changes were made in the objectives, 

policies or processes during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital 

requirements.
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18 fInanCIaL rIsK manaGement anD faIr vaLues of fInanCIaL Instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s 

business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the 

Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 

in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and bank balances are limited because the 

counterparties are banks with a high credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low 

credit risk. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on 

an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all 

customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group does not obtain collateral in respect 

of trade receivables. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments 

when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer 

as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. The Group 

also manages the credit risk by arranging the trade debtors to be covered by letters of credit from 

reputable banks. Credit terms offered by the Group to its customers are set out in note 12 to the 

financial statements.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate. The Group considers 

the exposure to credit risk with respect to trade debtors and bills receivable as at 31 March 2019 

and 2018 were not significant as most of them were covered by letters of credit from reputable 

banks. It is considered the possibility of default is remote. The Group measures loss allowance 

on financial assets based on the past loss experience, existing market conditions, coverage of 

credit insurance as well as forward looking information at the end of each reporting period. 

Having considered those factors, the Group considered that there is no significant loss allowance 

recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9 as at 31 March 2019, and no expected credit loss rate has 

therefore been disclosed.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset 

in the statement of financial position after deducting any impairment allowance (if any). The Group 

does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.
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18 fInanCIaL rIsK manaGement anD faIr vaLues of fInanCIaL Instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, 

which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does 

not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance 

based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer 

bases.

Comparative information under HKAS 39

Prior to 1 April 2018, an impairment loss was recognised only when there was objective evidence 

of impairment (see note 1(g)(i) – policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018). At 31 March 2018, no 

trade receivables was determined to be impaired. The aging analysis of trade debtors that were not 

considered to be impaired was as follows:

2018

$’000  

Neither past due nor impaired 58,474
  

Based on past experience, management believed that no impairment allowance was necessary in 

respect of trade debtors and bills receivable as there had not been a significant change in credit 

quality and the balances were still considered fully recoverable. The outstanding trade debtors as at 

31 March 2018 were covered by letters of credit which had been accepted by the nominated banks 

subsequent to the end of the reporting period. No impairment loss was recognised by the Group at 

31 March 2018.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, 

including the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected 

cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s board when the borrowing exceeds 

certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity 

requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines 

of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and 

longer term. At 31 March 2019, the Group has unutilised banking facilities of $80,574,000 (2018: 

$42,000,000).

All financial liabilities are carried at amounts not materially different from their contractual 

undiscounted cash flow as all the financial liabilities are with maturities within one year or 

repayable on demand at the end of the reporting period.
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18 fInanCIaL rIsK manaGement anD faIr vaLues of fInanCIaL Instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which give rise to 

receivables, payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency other than 

the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this 

risk are primarily Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group considers the risk 

of movements in exchange rates between the HKD and the United States dollars (“USD”) to be 

insignificant as the HKD is pegged to the USD.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency risk 

arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional 

currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure 

are shown in USD, translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in usD)

2019 2018

hKD rmB HKD RMB

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     

Trade and other receivables 70 — 74 —

Cash and cash equivalents 37 6 309 6

Trade and other payables (166) — (215) —     

(59) 6 168 6
     

A change in the foreign exchange rate of RMB is not expected to have significant impact on the 

Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses. Therefore, the sensitivity analysis is not prepared. In 

this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HKD and the USD would be materially 

unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the USD against other currencies.

(e) fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not 

materially different from their fair values as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 because of the immediate 

or short-term maturity of the financial instruments.
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19 operatInG Lease CommItment

At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are 

payable as follows:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Within 1 year 210 109

After 1 year but within 5 years 215 —   

  

425 109
   

The Group is the lessee in respect of its office premise held under operating lease from a fellow 

subsidiary. The lease runs for an initial period of three years with options to renew the lease when all 

terms are renegotiated. The lease does not include contingent rentals.

20 ContInGent LIaBILItIes

At 31 March 2019, the Group is involved in a legal claim relating to the disposal of certain former 

subsidiaries the operation of which were discontinued.

The Group ceased the operation of its footwear business in January 2013. Further, as disclosed in the 

Company’s announcement dated 26 February 2014, the Company entered into a sale and purchase 

agreement (“the agreement”) with Landway Investments Limited (“Landway”), a company wholly 

owned by a director of Brave Win Industries Limited (“Brave Win”) to dispose of (i) 1 share of Brave 

Win, representing 0.0000033% of the total issued share capital of Brave Win; (ii) the 1,000 shares 

of China Compass Investments Limited (“China Compass”), representing the entire issued share 

capital of China Compass; and (iii) the unsecured and interest-free shareholder’s loan in the principal 

amount of approximately $1,579,000 owed by China Compass to the Company, at a consideration of 

$3,200,000 (“the Disposal”). The Disposal was completed on 10 April 2014. The directors reviewed the 

representations and warranties provided by the Company to Landway as set out in the agreement and 

based on the review and professional advice obtained, it was considered that there was no breach of any 

of the representations and warranties.
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20 ContInGent LIaBILItIes (continued)

On 23 March 2016, Landway filed a claim against the Company, which alleged that a former director of 

the Company made certain misrepresentations in the Disposal and filed a claim of $700,000 plus interest 

against the Company in the High Court of Hong Kong. The Company filed its defence on 24 May 2016 

which denied the allegations made by Landway. On 7 September 2016, the Company issued a summons 

applying to strike out Landway’s claim. The strike out application was unsuccessful as Landway amended 

its statement of claim on 13 March 2017 in response to the strike out application. The Company filed an 

amended defence on 28 April 2017 accordingly. Landway and the Company filed and exchanged factual 

witness statements on 20 March 2018. Landway further amended its statement of claim on 8 November 

2018.

The trial of the action is due to commence on 7 December 2020. Based on the available evidence and the 

advice received from the Company’s legal advisor as to the merits of Landway’s claim, the directors of the 

Company are of the opinion that no provision in respect of the said claim is required to be made.

21 materIaL reLateD partY transaCtIons

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, the Group enter into the following related party transactions.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors 

disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 274 470

Retirement scheme contributions 4 2   

278 472
   

Total remuneration is disclosed in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).
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21 materIaL reLateD partY transaCtIons (continued)

(b) transaction with a fellow subsidiary

2019 2018

$’000 $’000   

Rental expenses, building management fee and utility 

charges (note 21(c)) 297 413
   

(c) applicability of the Listing rules relating to connected transaction

The related party transaction in respect of note 21(b) above constitutes continuing connected 

transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 

14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section headed “Continuing connected transaction” of the 

Reports of the directors.
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22 CompanY-LeveL statement of fInanCIaL posItIon

2019 2018

Note $’000 $’000    

non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries —* —*

Amounts due from subsidiaries 7,466 8,953    

7,466 8,953    

Current assets

Prepayments and other receivables — 4

Cash and cash equivalents 19 20    

19 24

Current liabilities

Other payables and accrued expenses 74 192    

net current liabilities (55) (168)
    

net assets 7,411 8,785
    

CapItaL anD reserves 17(a)

Share capital 441 441

Reserves 6,970 8,344    

totaL eQuItY 7,411 8,785
    

* The balance represents amount less than $1,000.
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23 ImmeDIate anD uLtImate ControLLInG partY

At 31 March 2019, the directors consider the immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the 

Group to be Reignwood International Holdings Company Limited, which is incorporated in the British 

Virgin Islands and Mr. Chanchai Ruayrungruang respectively. The entity does not produce financial 

statements available for public use.

24 possIBLe ImpaCt of amenDments, neW stanDarDs anD InterpretatIons IssueD But not 

Yet effeCtIve for the Year enDeD 31 marCh 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, 

new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 

which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These include the following which may be 

relevant to the Group.

effective for

accounting periods

beginning on or after  

HKFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019

HK(IFRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 January 2019

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new 

standards and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has 

identified some aspects of the new standards which may have a significant impact on the consolidated 

financial statements. Further details of the expected impacts are discussed below. While the assessment 

has been substantially completed for HKFRS 16, the actual impact upon the initial adoption of this 

standard may differ as the assessment completed to date is based on the information currently available 

to the Group, and further impacts may be identified before the standard is initially applied in the Group’s 

interim financial report for the six months ended 30 September 2019. The Group may also change its 

accounting policy elections, including the transition options, until the standard is initially applied in that 

financial report.
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24 possIBLe ImpaCt of amenDments, neW stanDarDs anD InterpretatIons IssueD But not 

Yet effeCtIve for the Year enDeD 31 marCh 2019 (continued)

hKfrs 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 1(f), currently the Group classifies leases into operating leases for property.

Once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. 

Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a similar way to current 

finance lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognise and 

measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum future lease payments and will recognise 

a corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee will 

recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation 

of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under 

operating leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect 

not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or less) 

and to leases of low-value assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on 

a systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee of leases for property which is currently 

classified as operating leases. The application of the new accounting model is expected to lead to an 

increase in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of the lease.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, 

the Group plans to use the practical expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which existing 

arrangements are, or contain, leases. The Group will therefore apply the new definition of a lease in 

HKFRS 16 only to contracts that are entered into on or after the date of initial application. In addition, 

the Group plans to elect the practical expedient for not applying the new accounting model to short-term 

leases and leases of low-value assets.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16 

and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance 

of equity at 1 April 2019 and will not restate the comparative information. As disclosed in note 19, at 

31 March 2019 the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

amount to $425,000 for property, the majority of which is payable between 1 and 5 years after the 

reporting date. Upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 16, the opening balances of lease liabilities and 

the corresponding right-of-use assets will be adjusted respectively, after taking account the effects of 

discounting, as at 1 April 2019.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, the Group expects that the transition 

adjustments to be made upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 16 will not be material. However, the 

expected changes in accounting policies as described above could have a material impact on the Group’s 

financial statements from 2019 onwards.
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resuLts

Year ended 31 march

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000      

Revenue 198,348 198,669 254,358 42,638 125,065
      

(Loss)/Profit before taxation (1,476) (2,478) 131 (13,398) 1,692

Income tax credit/(expense) — — — 28 (114)      

(Loss)/Profit for the year 

attributable to shareholders (1,476) (2,478) 131 (13,370) 1,578
      

assets anD LIaBILItIes

as at 31 march

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000      

Total assets 26,127 67,483 72,481 34,446 52,151

Total liabilities (18,823) (58,703) (61,223) (23,319) (27,654)      

7,304 8,780 11,258 11,127 24,497
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